STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Horry County

Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable Kristi L. Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 23 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ROSHOD M. BAKER,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000657

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to investigate and cross-examine witness Smith regarding his pending burglary charge, which could have been used to show bias and for impeachment?

- II. Whether the PCR court erred in denying PCR counsel's motion to amend the PCR application to include an allegation of prosecutorial misconduct where it was not until trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that PCR counsel learned that the solicitor never notified trial counsel of witness Smith's pending burglary charge, which could have been used to show bias and for impeachment?

- III. Whether the PCR court erred in denying PCR counsel's request that the record be left open so that PCR counsel could submit certified records regarding Smith's burglary charge to the PCR court?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 28, 2002, the Horry County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Roshod M. Baker¹ for murder, along with co-defendant's Dormaine Baker, Derrick L. Bowens, Ernest Q. Smith, and Telly Manning. App. 34. Roshod and Dormaine Baker were brothers and were cousins with the other three men. App. 81, ll. 2-17; App. 84, ll. 1-5.

On November 13 through 16, 2006, Baker and one of his co-defendants, Telly Manning, appeared for trial before the Honorable Steven H. John. Baker was represented by Johnny Gardner, Manning was represented by Randall Mullins, and the state was represented by assistant solicitor George Debusk, Jr. App. 1.

Troy Riggins was a drug dealer in the Longs area of Horry County, South Carolina. He was found in the front seat of his grey Lincoln at approximately 4:00 p.m. on December 21, 2000, suffering from multiple gunshot wounds. App. 67, l. 13 – 70, l. 18. Riggins died at the hospital. App. 186, ll. 19-21. The forensic pathologist, Dr. Erin Presnell, testified that Riggins suffered seven gunshot wounds, two of which were ultimately fatal. App. 212, l. 12 – 229, l. 11. The parties stipulated that 22.34 grams of cocaine and \$1,626 in cash were found in Riggins' pockets. App. 195, l. 20 – 196, l. 4; App. 253, ll. 9-22. Firearms examiner Special Agent Vello Paavel, determined that the two shell casings found in the Lincoln were Winchester 9 millimeter lugers and were both fired by the same gun, though he could not tell from the casings what type of gun fired them. He also examined bullets and bullet fragments collected at Riggins' autopsy and determined that at least two guns were used, one of which was consistent with a .38 special or 357 magnum. App. 258, l. 21 – 259, l. 13; App. 263, l. 10 – 267, l. 21; App. 271, ll. 3-12; App. 274, ll. 10-18.

¹ Petitioner's first name is spelled "Roshod" and "Rashad" on various documents throughout the Appendix.

The only evidence that connected Baker and Manning to the crime was the testimony of Derrick Bowens and Ernest Smith, both of whom were reluctant to admit that they were receiving any benefit for their testimony, specifically dismissal of the murder charges against them. App. 90, ll. 21-23; App. 99, ll. 4-15; App. 110, l. 20 – 113, l. 8; App. 132, l. 7 – 134, l. 1; App. 150, l. 17 – 153, l. 16. Bowens testified that the five men traveled from North Carolina to South Carolina in a Nissan Maxima to do some Christmas shopping at the outlets in Myrtle Beach. App. 80, l. 19 – 84, l. 13. Smith was the last one picked up that afternoon, after which they went to a pool room. As they were leaving, Smith flagged down a grey Lincoln. Bowens testified that Baker and Manning got into the Lincoln to buy drugs. The other three rode in the Maxima and followed the Lincoln to a store parking lot. As Bowens and the other men listened to music in the Maxima, he heard one gun shot. Baker and Manning came back to the car and they drove back to North Carolina. App. 84, l. 14 – 89, l. 25; App. 94, l. 24 – 95, l. 1. Bowens never saw Baker or Manning with a gun that day and they did not discuss anything about what happened afterwards. App. 89, ll. 17-22; App. 90, ll. 15-20; App. 105, ll. 4-22.

Ernest Smith also testified that the original intention that day was to go to the outlets to shop. However, he said that he first wanted to go to Longs to find a man named “Big Mark” and buy a “Big Eight,” approximately four ounces of cocaine. App. 119, l. 24 – 123, l. 9; App. 136, ll. 13-24. Smith later changed his testimony to indicate that it was Baker who wanted the “Big Eight.” App. 136, l. 25 – 137, l. 2; App. 161, l. 16 – 162, l. 3. He claimed that it was Baker who was talking “to the people in the Lincoln” and that he saw both Baker and Manning put handguns into the front of their pants before they got into the Lincoln. App. 123, l. 10 – 128, l. 8; App. 134, ll. 2-10; App. 153, l. 17 – 156, l. 4; App. 161, ll. 6-15; App. 162, ll. 4-12. While Smith could not “recall” whether

he heard any gunshots, he claimed that when Baker returned to the Maxima, Baker said in angry voice: “Cuz, drive, just drive on the road.” App. 129, l. 2 – 130, l. 16.

The solicitor asked Smith on direct examination whether he had ever been arrested or convicted of crimes. App. 131, ll. 15-16. Smith responded “not really” and explained that he was charged a couple of years earlier for having marijuana. App. 131, ll. 17-19. He said: “I got it, you know, throwed [sic] out of court, but **other than that I ain’t [sic] been in no kind of trouble.**” App. 131, ll. 19-21 (emphasis added). Smith then confirmed that he had actually been arrested with respect to Riggins’ death and had an agreement with the solicitor that if he testified “on the truth” that he will not be charged with murder. App. 131, l. 22 – 133, l. 1. Smith admitted on cross-examination that he was currently charged with murder and eventually, though grudgingly, agreed that after his testimony he would no longer be charged with murder. App. 150, l. 17 - 153, l. 16.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the charge of murder as to both defendants. App. 377. Judge John sentenced them both to the mandatory minimum term of thirty years. App. 390.

On direct appeal, Baker was represented by appellate defender Katherine Hudgins. App. 392. Hudgins filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), in which she raised the issue of whether the trial judge erred by denying Baker’s motion for directed verdict. App. 395. Upon consideration of the record and the brief prepared by counsel, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal pursuant to Anders on September 8, 2009. App. 402.

First PCR Application and Hearing (2010-CP-26-7814)

On August 24, 2010, Baker filed an application for post-conviction relief. App. 404. On October 25, 2010, the State filed its Return. App. 411. Baker filed an Amendment to his PCR application on December 29, 2011, through prior PCR counsel, Charles Brooks. App. 416.

On August 26, 2014, the parties appeared before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington in Horry County. Baker was represented by Tristan Shaffer, and the State was represented by assistant attorney general Joshua Thomas. App. 417 – 420. Shaffer requested a continuance, explaining that he had not had sufficient time to prepare for the case, having been appointed to represent Baker on May 30, 2014, but moving offices such that he did not communicate with Baker until July 2014. App. 421, l. 1 – 422, l. 6. Shaffer explained that he had just recently become aware of a new claim involving the failure to cross-examine Ernest Smith regarding pending charges, which was the strongest allegation to pursue on PCR. App. 422, l. 7 – 425, l. 17; App. 426, ll. 12-20. The assistant attorney general said that he was prepared to go forward on the new allegations but would “leave it to the Court’s discretion.” App. 425, l. 18 – 427, l. 11. Judge Harrington initially denied the request for continuance but changed her mind after learning that Shaffer had only met Baker briefly that same day. App. 426, ll. 21-23.; App. 430, l. 1 – 433, l. 3. Judge Harrington continued the hearing until later that week. App. 433, l. 12 – 435, l. 7.

Baker’s case was recalled on August 28, 2014, in Georgetown County. App. 436. Shaffer indicated that one of the allegations on which he intended to present evidence was “failure to cross-examine . . . on pending charges.” App. 440, ll. 17-19. Baker and his trial attorney, Johnny Gardner, testified at the evidentiary hearing. Baker said that Smith’s pending burglary charge never came up at trial. App. 451, ll. 6-25. Baker was not aware that Smith has been arrested for burglary a month before he testified at Baker’s trial. App. 452, ll. 1-3; App. 455, l. 5 – 456, l. 5. Trial counsel Johnny Gardner testified that he was likewise unaware that Smith had been charged with burglary a month prior to the trial. He explained that when Shaffer asked him about it previously he was confused and thought he was referring to Telly Manning. App. 467, ll. 1-5; App. 467, ll. 8-22. Even so, Gardner testified that it “would [not] have made a difference in [his] mind.” App. 467, ll.

5-7; App. 467, l. 24 – 468, l. 25. While Gardner did not specifically recall the solicitor asking Smith if he had ever been arrested, he agreed that such a question would have opened the door to questions regarding the burglary arrest and that he would have “most likely” used it for impeachment had he known about it. App. 469, l. 1 – 470, l. 9.

On cross-examination, Gardner testified that he did not recall ever seeing a warrant or indictment related to Smith’s burglary charge. App. 475, ll. 11-20. He contended that he had asked Smith about the deal for the murder charge and said that absent the solicitor opening the door, it would have been improper to raise the pending charge. App. 475, l. 21 – 476, l. 1. However, on re-direct Gardner confirmed that if the solicitor opened the door, he would have brought up the burglary charge. App. 477, ll. 3-6.

Following Gardner’s testimony, Shaffer requested leave to orally amend the application pursuant to Rule 15, SCRCP, to include a due process violation for prosecutorial misconduct and failure to disclose Brady material. He asked Judge Harrington to take judicial notice of the public index, which indicated that Smith was arrested for burglary a month prior to the trial. App. 478, ll. 3-18. Shaffer explained that when he spoke with Gardner on Tuesday of that week, Gardner indicated that he knew about the charge. It was not until Gardner testified at the PCR hearing that Gardner said he had misunderstood Shaffer’s question and thought he was referring to Telly Manning’s arrest before the trial. App. 478, l. 19 – 479, l. 5; App. 480, l. 24 – 481, l. 18. The assistant attorney general stated that he was unsure if there was actually a burglary charge against Smith, stating that neither he nor Gardner had seen a warrant or indictment for the charge. App. 480, ll. 7-14. He further argued:

Secondly, you know, if you want to amend to include something along those lines, I think a little bit more notice is proper. I mean, this is clearly something that he's known about since Monday. If I had known that we were going to switch this failure to cross examine to a claim that the solicitor should have disclosed it, I could have found the solicitor, tracked him down, and brought him in. It's just a little late in the game for that, Your Honor.

App. 480, ll. 15-23.

Judge Harrington allowed Shaffer to recall Gardner. App. 480, l. 19-21. Gardner testified that in his mind there was only one "co-defendant" – Telly Manning, who he thought Shaffer was referring to when he asked him about a codefendant being charged with burglary. App. 482, l. 3 – 483, l. 2. Gardner said that he did not look at the public index printout that Shaffer showed him, saying that it is "not reliable" and "not accepted by any court in any land." App. 483, ll. 3-11. However, Gardner agreed that he told Shaffer that he was aware that the codefendant had been arrested and had been to trial a month before. App. 483, ll. 12-15.

Shaffer asked the PCR judge to allow him to get a certified conviction from the Clerk's Office in Horry County and submit it to the court the following day. App. 483, l. 23 – 484, l. 11.

He explained:

The other thing I would say in my defense is that based off our discussion whenever I showed him [Gardner] a piece of paper that said Ernest Smith and I said, do you know that the codefendant had been arrested a month beforehand -- and showed him the piece of paper that showed the date of the arrest – that when he said, yeah, I knew about that, that was a reasonable basis for me to assume that there was not a prosecutorial misconduct or a *Brady* issue involving this conviction, that it was merely a failure to cross examine involving that conviction. I discussed that, the record, on Monday, as well.

App. 484, l. 15 – 485, l. 1. Judge Harrington denied Shaffer's motion to amend the pleadings,

ruling:

I specifically asked, prior to beginning today's hearing that we passed in order for you to speak with your client, from Horry County to today, and scheduled it at your convenience.

I am denying your motion. This is an old case. You should have had this prepared earlier in the week. Deny your motion to amend.

I believe you have presented enough that -- and it is in accordance with the applicant's position.

App. 485, ll. 2-12.

Order of Dismissal (2010-CP-26-7814)

On November 19, 2014, Judge Harrington filed an Order of Dismissal denying Baker's PCR application. App. 488. The Court found that "trial counsel conducted a proper investigation, adequately conferred with Applicant, and was thoroughly competent in his representation." App. 493. With respect to the failure to cross-examine Smith regarding his pending burglary arrest, the Court ruled:

The Court finds Applicant failed to meet his burden of proof to demonstrate trial counsel ineffective for failing to cross-examine Smith on any pending charges. Applicant asserted that the trial was delayed because Smith was incarcerated. However, testimony showed that the delay was actually due to Manning's incarceration. Trial counsel testified he was not aware of any burglary charges against Smith at the time of trial. Furthermore, Applicant admitted to being in Smith's presence the weekend before trial began. Applicant had ample opportunity to provide trial counsel information about Smith's alleged pending charges before trial.

The Court finds Applicant failed to show he was prejudiced by trial counsel not further cross-examining Smith. Applicant presented no probative evidence, other than his own testimony, to prove Smith had a pending burglary charge at the time of trial. *Jackson v. State*, 329 S.C. 345, 349, 495 S.E.2d 768, 770 (1998). The record indicates trial counsel and Manning's attorney thoroughly impeached Smith regarding his involvement in the murder as well as his plea bargain with the State. In light of this thorough cross-examination, further questioning about a burglary charge would have been merely cumulative to trial counsel's impeachment during cross-examination. *Id.* at 351, 495 S.E.2d at 771 (no prejudice where testimony could not have provided additional information to jury).

App. 493 – 494.

Second PCR Application and Hearing (2015-CP-26-0475)

On January 21, 2015, Baker filed a second PCR application requesting a belated appeal of his PCR claims. App. 498. On May 29, 2015, the State filed its Return. App. 513.

On February 11, 2016, a hearing was held before the Honorable D. Craig Brown. Baker was represented by James Falk, and the state was represented by assistant attorney general Jessica Kinard. App. 518. Based on PCR counsel Shaffer's stipulation that he was ineffective in failing to file an appeal from the first PCR court's order, the state consented to an Austin² appeal. App. 519 – 520.

Order Granting Belated PCR Appeal Pursuant to Austin (2015-CP-26-0475)

On March 14, 2016, Judge Brown issued an Order granting Baker an appeal pursuant to Austin. App. 573 – 577. Baker filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows. Additionally, Baker is simultaneously filing his petition for writ of certiorari pursuant to Austin.

² Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991).

ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to investigate and cross-examine witness Smith regarding his pending burglary charge, which could have been used for impeachment and to show bias.**

Introduction

Roshod Baker waited four years to finally have his PCR allegations heard at an evidentiary hearing. The strongest allegation raised at his PCR hearing was that trial counsel failed to cross-examine the State's witness, Ernest Smith, regarding a pending burglary charge that he was arrested for just one month prior to the trial. The PCR hearing was delayed an additional two days so that PCR counsel Tristan Shaffer could prepare for this newly discovered allegation. App. 421, l. 1 – 434, l. 24. However, when trial counsel Gardner testified at the PCR hearing, he said that he misunderstood Shaffer's inquiry earlier in the week to relate to a pre-trial arrest involving Telly Manning. Now understanding that it was Ernest Smith to whom Shaffer was referring, Gardner denied any knowledge of a burglary arrest. App. 467, l. 5 – 470, l. 9; App. 475, l. 11 – 477, l. 6. Shaffer moved to amend the PCR application to conform to the evidence pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRCF. Shaffer admitted that he had intended to rely on Gardner's admission that the pending charge was known to him, so he also requested one day to submit certified records from the Clerk's Office to the PCR court. App. 478, l. 3 – 479, l. 5; App. 480, l. 24 – 481, l. 18; App. 483, l. 23 – 485, l. 1.

As an initial matter, the PCR court erred in ruling that Baker failed to prove deficiency and prejudice with respect to the failure to investigate and cross-examine Smith on the pending charge. There was no evidence that Baker knew of the pending Horry County charge against Smith and the responsibility to discover such information rested upon trial counsel. See App.

493 – 494. Additionally, to the extent that the failure to cross-examine was the result of prosecutorial misconduct, the PCR court erred in denying Shaffer’s request to amend the application where a brief continuance could have been had to allow the state to defend against the allegation. The PCR court also erred in failing to either take judicial notice of the public index record regarding Smith’s burglary charge or allowing Shaffer to provide certified records regarding the charge to the court. See App. 485, ll. 2-12; App. 490.

Right to Effective Assistance of Counsel

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “Where allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are made, the question becomes, ‘whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.’ ” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel’s representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.’ ” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). “Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel’s performance in such a manner that, but for counsel’s error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id.

The United States Supreme Court specifically ruled that “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Id. Moreover, the Court ruled that: “The ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. In every case the court should be concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results.” Id. at 696 (emphasis added).

Discussion

The PCR court found that trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to investigate Baker’s case or in failing to cross-examine Smith regarding the pending burglary charge. App. 493 – 494. That ruling was based, at least in part, on inaccurate factual findings. Baker never testified that the trial was delayed because of Smith’s incarceration. App. 493. Rather, Baker said that Gardner had **not** ever told him about the trial being delayed because Ernest had been arrested for a burglary. App. 455, ll. 5-11. That question from Shaffer was obviously elicited based on his prior conversation with trial counsel, at which time Gardner had told Shaffer that the co-defendant, referring in his mind to Manning, had another charge that delayed the trial. App. 479, ll. 3-21. Further, though Smith had recently come home from prison for a burglary, Baker was not aware of the pending burglary charge in Horry County from a month prior to the trial. App. 452, ll. 1-3; App. 455, l. 12 – 456, l. 5. Thus, the PCR court’s findings that “Applicant admitted to being in Smith’s presence the weekend before trial began” and “had ample opportunity to provide trial counsel information about Smith’s alleged pending charges before trial” ignore the fact that Baker was unaware of the nature or jurisdiction of Smith’s burglary charge. App. 493.

Moreover, the PCR judge's findings ignore the real problem, which is that trial counsel had a responsibility to know about Smith's pending charges. Counsel has a duty to undertake reasonable investigations or to make a decision that renders a particular investigation unnecessary. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). Even if Gardner had a "personal animus towards the public index" he could have at the very least examined it as a starting point to obtaining more formal documentation about Smith's pending charges. See App. 483, ll. 3-11. It was not Baker's responsibility to investigate the criminal records of the witnesses.

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