STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

APR 10 2017

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Kristi L. Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

---

Roshod M. Baker .....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, .....Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000657

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

RUSTON W. NEELY  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100192

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

Other Counsel of Record:

Laura R. Baer, Appellate Defender  
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The record contains probative evidence to support the PCR court's finding trial counsel was not ineffective and Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to further impeach Ernest Smith on his burglary charge.**

This Court should not grant certiorari because trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to impeach Smith on his pending burglary charge for three reasons:

1. Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to impeach Smith with a pending burglary charge because trial counsel thoroughly impeached Smith.

Trial counsel thoroughly impeached Smith on the basis of his deal with the State, drug dealing, and false statements he made to law enforcement concerning the case at trial. Smith made a deal with the State to testify against Petitioner and Petitioner's co-defendant at trial in exchange for the State dismissing his pending murder charge for the same incident. App. p. 112-113. Trial counsel also impeached Smith on his attempt the day of the incident to acquire an amount of drugs "that's not just for one person" worth roughly \$2000.00. App. p. 145-146. Trial counsel also impeached Smith on his false statements to law enforcement about the incident in question and his presentation of a false alibi witness to law enforcement. App. p. 158. The PCR court found that any further impeachment would have been cumulative. App. p. 494. Trial counsel's cross-examination of Smith showed Smith was a heavily biased drug-dealer who had lied on multiple occasions to law enforcement about the incident in question. Trial counsel's failure to impeach Smith on a pending burglary charge would not have changed the result of the proceeding.

The PCR court found trial counsel thoroughly cross-examined and impeached Smith. App. p. 494. The PCR court also ruled any further impeachment by trial counsel on the pending burglary charge would have been cumulative and, therefore, not prejudicial. App. p. 494. Trial counsel testified to the same effect at the PCR hearing, "I just want to emphasize that I wouldn't

have done anything with that.” App. p. 468. The impeachment value of the burglary charge was negligible compared to the immense bias created by Smith’s deal with the State. No evidence was introduced at trial or the PCR hearing indicating the burglary charge was contemplated as part of Smith’s deal with the State. Trial counsel thoroughly impeached Smith on the deal and the bias it created. App. p. 150-153. Based on trial counsel’s cross-examination, the PCR court found Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to impeach Smith on his pending burglary charge. App. p. 494.

Petitioner failed to prove he was prejudiced because the impeachment information was less indicative of bias and was cumulative in nature compared to the impeachment material used by trial counsel. Any deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). Probative evidence exists in the record to support the PCR court’s finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to impeach Smith on his recent pending burglary charge.

2. Trial counsel was not deficient because he was not aware of Smith’s pending burglary charge at the time of trial.

Trial counsel testified he was not aware of Smith’s burglary charge at the time of trial. App. p. 467. Petitioner failed to prove trial counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach Smith on his pending burglary charge because counsel did not know or have reason to know about the burglary charge. “[T]he record of the PCR proceeding indicates that Judge’s lawyers were not aware of these materials; rather, they thought the prosecution had given them all the materials to which they were entitled. Counsel cannot be incompetent in failing to wait to receive material

they had no reason to know existed.” Judge v. State, 321 S.C. 554, 562, 471 S.E.2d 146, 150–51 (1996) overruled on other grounds by Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 535 S.E.2d 926 (2000).

Petitioner failed to prove trial counsel was deficient because trial counsel had no knowledge of the impeachment material and could not have acted on information which he did not have. Probative evidence exists in the record to support the PCR court’s finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for trial counsel’s failure to impeach Smith on his recent pending burglary charge.

3. Trial counsel was not deficient because Petitioner knew of the impeachment material and failed to inform trial counsel.

Counsel cannot be deficient for failing to act on an issue if he does not know of the issue because his client failed to inform him of an issue about which the client has actual knowledge. See Lee v. State, 396 S.C. 314, 322, 721 S.E.2d 442, 447 (Ct. App. 2011) (holding defendant failed to establish that plea counsel's failure to have him evaluated for competency constituted ineffective assistance when he gave no indication to his attorney of his mental incompetence.) Petitioner testified he knew Smith, his first cousin, had recently been released from incarceration for burglary before the trial. App. p. 455. Petitioner knew of Smith’s burglary charge and failed to inform his trial counsel. Petitioner also testified he did not give trial counsel any leads or people to interview. App. p. 460.

**II. The PCR court did not err when it denied Petitioner's motion to amend his application to include allegations of prosecutorial misconduct and a *Brady* violation.**

The PCR court's denial of Petitioner's motion to amend was appropriate due to the age of Petitioner's case and his own actions that advanced the age of the case.

December 2000, Petitioner was charged for murder. App. p. 527.

November 2006, Petitioner was found guilty at trial. App. p. 377.

August 2010, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. App. p. 503.

From 2010-2014, Petitioner relieved four different appointed PCR attorneys. App. p. 426.

August 26, 2014, Petitioner made a motion to continue his case, relieve Tristan Shaffer, and amend his application with a new allegation. App. p.422, 431. The PCR court granted the motion for a continuance and delayed the case for two days. App. p. 434.

August 28, 2014, Petitioner made another motion to continue his case, which was denied. App. p. 437.

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner made a motion to amend his application to allege a *Brady* violation. App. p. 478.

1. The merits of Petitioner's claims were not subserved by the amendment because the PCR court substantively found the *Brady* evidence was not material.

The merits of Petitioner's action would not have been subserved by an amendment to his application because the PCR court's findings encompass the proposed allegations. In denying Petitioner's motion, the PCR court found the issues had been adequately presented without amending the application. App. p. 485. Civil Court Rule 15 directs the court to allow amendments "when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby" and "the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits." SCRC 15. The Standard of Review

for a PCR court's evidentiary ruling is whether the court abused its discretion. "The decision to admit affidavits, depositions, oral testimony, or other evidence at a PCR hearing is within the PCR court's discretion and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to a party." McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 56, 661 S.E.2d 354, 365 (2008).

Petitioner was not prejudiced because the alleged *Brady* evidence does not satisfy the required elements. The proposed *Brady* allegation was the State failed to furnish trial counsel with Smith's pending burglary charge. App. p. 478. "[A]n individual asserting a *Brady* violation must demonstrate the evidence was (1) favorable to the accused; (2) in the possession of or known by the prosecution; (3) suppressed by the State; and (4) material to the accused's guilt or innocence, or was impeaching. State v. McCray, 413 S.C. 76, 95-96, 773 S.E.2d 914, 924 (Ct. App. p. 2015). The alleged impeachment evidence was favorable because it could have potentially been used by trial counsel to impeach Smith. "Favorable evidence includes... evidence which may be used for impeachment." United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 676, 105 S.Ct. 3375, 87 L.Ed.2d 481, (1985). There was no evidence presented concerning the possession or suppression of the evidence by the State.

The PCR court substantively ruled on the *Brady* allegation because the standard for prejudice to an Applicant at a PCR hearing and materiality in a *Brady* violation are the same. "[T]here is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, *the result of the proceeding would have been different.*" Strickland, at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (emphasis added). "Materiality of evidence is determined based on the reasonable probability that *the result of the proceeding would have been different* had the evidence been disclosed to the defense." Hyman at 45, 723 S.E.2d at 380 (emphasis added). The PCR court found Petitioner was not

prejudiced by the impeachment material because trial counsel thoroughly impeached Smith on his deal with the State and the alleged impeachment material was cumulative. App. p. 494.

The PCR court found that the alleged *Brady* material would not have changed the result of the proceeding if trial counsel had used it. App. p. 494. The PCR court effectively ruled the *Brady* evidence was not material by finding it would not have changed the result of the proceeding had it been utilized by trial counsel. App. p. 493. Therefore, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the PCR court's denial of his motion because the alleged *Brady* evidence did not satisfy the elements of a *Brady* claim.

2. Due to the age of the case, the amendment of Petitioner's allegations would have prejudiced the State.

The PCR court correctly denied Petitioner's motion to amend his application, based on the prejudice caused by the case's age. App. p. 424, 485. The State was prejudiced by the case's age, which was caused in part by Petitioner's own actions firing his attorneys, and the lack of notice provided to the State of the allegations. The State was unable to call the solicitor, who prosecuted the case 8 years prior, as a witness due to the lack of notice provided by the allegation. App. p. 480. The State was not aware that this allegation would be raised at the PCR hearing and was unprepared to address the allegation, called no witnesses, and presented no evidence on the issue of the alleged *Brady* material. App. p. 480.

The PCR court's denial of Petitioner's motion prevented further delaying of the case and, thus, prevented prejudice to the State. Petitioner's continual replacing of appointed PCR attorneys and his multiple continuances evidence his intent to delay his case's prosecution. The doctrine of Laches has long held that delay of a case's prosecution prejudices the State. See Bray v. State, 366 S.C. 137, 140, 620 S.E.2d 743, 745 (2005). If the PCR court had granted Petitioner's motion, the only remedy available to alleviate the prejudice to the State, caused by

Petitioner's failure to provide notice, was a continuance. "The court shall upon motion grant a continuance reasonably necessary to enable the objecting party to meet such evidence." SCRC 15. Due to concerns about the age of the case, the PCR court denied multiple continuance motions from the Petitioner. App. p. 424, 485. A continuance would have further extended a fourteen year old case. The PCR court's denial of Petitioner's motion prevented Petitioner from further prejudicing the State by delaying the prosecution of his case.

**III. The PCR court did not err in failing to rule on Petitioner's motion to hold the record open to admit a certified conviction of the alleged *Brady* material**

1. Petitioner's motion to hold the record open was contingent on the PCR court granting his motion to amend.

The PCR court did not rule on whether the record would remain open to give Petitioner time to submit a certified court document reflecting the alleged *Brady* material because the PCR Court ruled against Petitioner's amendment of the application, which rendered the issue moot. Petitioner conditioned his motion to hold the record open on if the PCR court allowed Petitioner to further amend his application. "[T]he only thing I would ask: that if you were to allow the amendment, to allow me to get a certified conviction." App. p. 483. The PCR court did not allow Petitioner to amend his application. App. p. 485. Therefore, there was no reason for the PCR court to rule on the issue.

2. Petitioner was not prejudiced by failing to have a certified conviction in the record because the PCR court substantively ruled on the merits of the allegation.

Petitioner was not prejudiced by the PCR court's failure to rule because the court considered and substantively ruled on the merits of the allegation in the order of dismissal. App. p. 485. Petitioner testified to the existence of the alleged *Brady* material. App. p. 451-452. PCR counsel represented to the PCR court that the South Carolina Public Index reflected the alleged

*Brady* material. The PCR court's findings addressed the merits of Petitioner's allegation that trial counsel should have impeached Smith with the burglary charge. The PCR court found Petitioner failed to demonstrate prejudice resulted from the alleged *Brady* material. App. p. 494. Petitioner was not prejudiced by the lack of certified record because the PCR court ruled on the merits of the alleged *Brady* material.

### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the petition be denied. If this Court sees fit to grant the petition for writ of certiorari, Petitioner would request permission under the rules to fully brief the issues contained herein.